FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/21/2022 10:10 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

> No. 101389-2 Court of Appeals No. 82529-1-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLA USA INC. and CLA ESTATE SERVICES, INC.,

Petitioners,

VS.

STATE OF WASHINGTON

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

SIDLEY AUSTIN LLP 1501 K Street NW Washington, DC 20005 (202) 736-8270

Carter G. Phillips, *Pro Hac Vice* David J. Elkanich, WSBA #35956 BUCHALTER 1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3100 Seattle, WA 98101 (503) 226-8646

> Robert M. Mckenna, WSBA #18327 ORRICK, HERRINGTON & SUTCLIFFE LLP 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 5600 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 839-4300

Attorneys for Petitioners

I. INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeals adopted an exceptionally broad and legally erroneous view of the Estate Distribution Documents Act (EDDA), which no court had ever adopted, and which the Attorney General's Office (AGO) had never announced or enforced.

To reach this result, the Court of Appeals misread the EDDA's text and refused to consider crucial context. When the EDDA was adopted, existing law distinguished between what Defendants did—obtain basic information which Defendants provided to independent lawyers—and what was the unauthorized practice of law—providing individualized advice about, or preparing, estate distribution documents. The EDDA did not change that longstanding distinction. It codified existing law and declared unauthorized practice of law relating to estate planning to be a per se violation of the Consumer Protection Act (CPA). That is all it did. Nothing in the EDDA's text suggests that gathering information without preparing or intending to

prepare estate documents is now the exclusive province of lawyers. The legislative record confirms the Legislature's intent. In fact, when the Legislature was considering the EDDA, the AGO told the Legislature "the only thing" the EDDA would create was "a per-se violation of the [CPA]."

The Court of Appeals refused to consider contemporary unauthorized practice of law case law, or legislative history, because it believed the EDDA "does not mention, define, or regulate the unauthorized practice of law." App. 26. The EDDA, however, bans conduct "unless the person is *authorized to practice law.*" RCW 19.295.020 (emphasis added). Regardless, because the EDDA's text at a minimum does not clearly make gathering information—divorced from the practice of law—illegal, the Court of Appeals was required to consult the EDDA's history and context.

The Legislature could not have intended the EDDA to mean what the Court of Appeals construed it to mean. Under that construction, any child, spouse, friend, or assistant who gathers or offers to gather information to help someone prepare to consult an attorney for the preparation of a will or trust violates the EDDA. This will "limit consumers from obtaining legitimate estate planning documents ... from those authorized to practice law"—an outcome the Legislature explicitly did "not intend[]." RCW 19.295.005. Further, the EDDA, as construed, would conflict with the First Amendment, which protects the right to ask questions and receive information.

The lower courts' expansive misreading warrants this Court's attention. An EDDA violation is a *per se* violation of the CPA, and, according to its terms, addresses "matters vitally affecting the public interest." RCW 19.295.030. EDDA violations therefore come with substantial liability, as this case shows. Due to the construction below, the AGO obtained its "highest ever trial award in a Washington state consumer protection case." Absent this Court's correction, the AGO will

¹ Consumer Protection Week, WASH. STATE OFFICE ATT'Y GEN. (Mar. 10, 2022), https://www.atg.wa.gov/news/news-

obtain even more egregious awards for conduct which has long been treated as permissible. The Legislature recently increased available penalties by nearly 300%.

The Court of Appeals compounded its error by affirming excessive restitution and penalties. The restitution awarded represents *all* of Defendants' revenues plus *all* commissions earned, although Defendants' customers received and retained value: CLA provided the services it offered and sold undisputedly lawful annuities which customers still own. Under Washington law, restitution is therefore inappropriate. The civil penalties awarded were duplicative of restitution and unlawful in their own right.

The award is particularly troubling because the AGO caused it to grow by sitting by, aware of CLA's decades-old business practices, for years—a "delay" the Court of Appeals found "concern[ing]" and "incongruous" with the AGO's

releases/consumer-protection-week-attorney-general-ferguson-announces-recoveries.

purported concerns about petitioners' business. App. 31. The AGO's adoption of a new interpretation (which departed from what it previously told the Legislature), its refusal to inform petitioners, and its delay, resulted in unfair surprise inconsistent with due process. *FCC* v. *Fox Television Stations, Inc.*, 567 U.S. 239, 253 (2012). Certainly, the AGO's actions preclude penalties based on a finding that petitioners acted in bad faith. These serious errors warrant review.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners, CLA USA Inc. and CLA Estate Services Inc. (together, "CLA"), ask the Court to grant review of the published opinion designated in Part III.

III. OPINION BELOW

On August 22, 2022, the Court of Appeals issued its opinion, which appears at pages 6 through 33 of the Appendix, affirming the King County Superior Court's judgment. The Superior Court's opinion appears at pages 34 through 101 of the

Appendix. On September 22, 2022, the Court of Appeals denied petitioners' motion for reconsideration.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- (1) Whether the EDDA prohibits nonlawyers from gathering or offering to gather information which attorneys may use in preparing estate distribution documents, even when the nonlawyer provides no legal advice, is not involved in the preparation of an estate distribution document, and does not represent that he or she will provide legal advice regarding or prepare any estate distribution document.
- (2) Whether penalizing CLA under a construction of the EDDA which the AGO had never announced or enforced, which departs from what the AGO previously stated, which the AGO did not enforce against CLA for years despite awareness of CLA's business practices, and which the AGO refused to inform CLA of, violates due process.

on total disgorgement of revenue and substantial civil penalties is unlawful and excessive where consumers received the benefit of their bargain and multiple penalties were awarded for the same acts, and where CLA sought guidance from the AGO but received none, while the AGO delayed in bringing an action for years, allowing penalties and restitution to accrue.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The AGO first investigated CLA in 2013 after issuing a Civil Investigative Demand (CID). App. 9. CLA cooperated fully, providing copious information about its business. CP 121, 125-26; RP 867:12-869:16. CLA repeatedly asked to meet with the AGO and requested guidance "to ensure that it is fully compliant with all applicable laws." CP 7949; *see also* CP 7931-7956; App. 31. The AGO refused to meet, provide guidance, or even express misgivings. CP 7944; CP 7955; App. 31.

In 2014, the AGO retained a legal expert to opine on whether CLA's business was lawful. CP 4183-4330, 4185 ¶¶ 5-8, 5744-5763, 5744-45 ¶¶ 4-8. The expert provided an opinion to the AGO in 2014 that certain CLA materials misstated Washington probate law. CP 4185-86 ¶¶ 5-6, 8. The expert did not address the EDDA. *See id.* The AGO took no action, and did not even inform CLA of the expert's conclusion. CLA continued to operate its business as it has done for many years in more than 20 states.

Years later, in 2017, the AGO issued a new CID. App. 31. The AGO consulted the same expert, who offered a virtually identical opinion. CP 4185-86, ¶¶ 5, 7, 9. This time, the AGO initiated this action, asserting, among other things, that CLA's longstanding practices violated the EDDA.

The AGO alleged that CLA violated the EDDA by offering to gather information at informational seminars and then receiving basic information—such as name, address, and value of estate—through a "Client Information Form," which CLA

entered into a database. A licensed attorney could later consult the database if the customer retained an attorney and decided to have the attorney prepare a document, and the attorney elected to consult the database. CP 18-20 ¶¶ 5.31, 5.33, 5.40. At follow-up meetings, the AGO alleged, CLA "asked a series of questions to determine if any changes or corrections were needed to the [customer's] documents, such as the names of trustees, successor trustees and beneficiaries, or to the terms of the trust." AGO Br. 15. And at annual check-in meetings, CLA would again "ask[] the customer a series of questions" to assess whether updates were needed. Id. at 16. If so, CLA would provide updated information to the customer's attorney. *Id.* at 16-17. The AGO did not allege that CLA offered legal advice or prepared legal documents and acknowledged that sometimes "attorneys chose not to rely on the information CLA gathered." *Id.* at 43.

The trial court agreed that CLA violated the EDDA. App. 80. "[T]he EDDA prohibits gathering, or offering to gather, information," the court found, without regard to whether the

person who gathers or offers to gather it does anything else. App. 80. And, under the EDDA "it does not matter ... whether the information [was] ultimately used by an attorney." App. 80.

\$6,162,913.93 awarded in restitution, representing all of CLA's revenues plus all commissions earned on any sales of insurance products. App. 86. The court also awarded \$6,546,000 in civil penalties. First, the court assessed one \$2,000 penalty under the EDDA—the maximum penalty for each violation—for each of the 210 Client Information Forms consumers completed. Second, the court assessed one \$2,000 penalty under the EDDA for each of the 1,478 follow-up and check-in meetings CLA had with customers (only 94 of which resulted in CLA sending update forms to clients' attorneys). App. 90. Finally, the court assessed three penalties totaling \$2,000 for each of petitioners' 1,765 informational seminars—one penalty for "offer[ing] to gather [information]" under the EDDA and two for supposed misrepresentations under the CPA. App. 96. In determining that penalties were appropriate, the court determined that CLA "did not act in good faith." App. 92. The court did not address CLA's attempts to obtain guidance from the AGO in a good faith attempt to comply with the law.

The Court of Appeals affirmed. It found the EDDA's text "clear," and refused to consider "legislative history and contemporary case law indicating the EDDA was passed with the intent of regulating the unauthorized practice of law." App. 25-26. The court reasoned that it "need not evaluate these materials" at all "because" it believed the EDDA "does not mention, define, or regulate the unauthorized practice of law." App. 26.

The Court of Appeals also affirmed the record-setting award of restitution and penalties. It "share[d] CLA's concern about the AGO's delay in prosecuting the case," finding it "incongruous" with the AGO's assertion that CLA "exploited Washington senior citizens." App. 31-32. The court noted that CLA "offered multiple times to meet with the AGO"—offers which "[t]he AGO declined." App. 31. Nonetheless, the court found the trial court did not err in concluding CLA did not act in

good faith, reasoning that the EDDA did not "allow for more than one reasonable interpretation." App. 31. (quoting *Safeco Ins. Co. of America* v. *Burr*, 551 U.S. 47, 70 n.20 (2007)). The court refused to consider CLA's argument that total disgorgement is inappropriate where consumers retain the benefit of their bargain. App. 30.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals's Unprecedented Construction Departs From the EDDA's Terms and Intent.

The EDDA makes it a *per se* violation of the CPA for a nonlawyer to engage in the unauthorized practice of law (UPL) by offering individualized advice regarding estate distribution documents, preparing such documents, or, as relevant here, gathering information for the purpose of *themself* offering such advice or preparing such documents.

The EDDA thus codified preexisting UPL case law, and clarified that UPL in this context is a *per se* "unfair or deceptive act" under the CPA. RCW 19.295.030. The EDDA did not change the law to ban nonlawyers from asking questions or

receiving information which a lawyer may later use. The Court of Appeals's contrary decision is inconsistent with the statute's text and the Legislature's intent.

1. The Court of Appeals misinterpreted the EDDA's text.

Under a natural reading of the EDDA's text, it is unlawful for a nonlawyer to gather information, or offer to gather information, only if the nonlawyer prepares or intends to prepare the estate distribution document or legal advice.

The EDDA makes it unlawful "for a person to market estate distribution documents ... unless the person is authorized to practice law." RCW 19.295.020(1). "Market" includes "every offer, contract, or agreement to prepare or gather information for the preparation of, or to provide, individualized advice about an estate distribution document." RCW 19.295.010(4). And an "[e]state distribution document" is a legal document, such as a will or trust, "prepared, or intended to be prepared, for a specific person or as marketing materials for distribution to any person." RCW 19.295.010(1).

These provisions make it unlawful for a nonlawyer to gather information relevant to a legal document which the nonlawyer prepares or intends to prepare. Gathering information is only unlawful if it is done for a particular purpose, namely, "for the preparation of" individualized advice about a legal document "prepared, or intended to be prepared, for a specific person or as marketing materials for distribution to any person." RCW 19.295.010(1), (4) (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals found the statute ambivalent as to who—nonlawyer or lawyer—prepares the document. App. 25. That is not "[t]he most natural reading of [the text]." *Facebook, Inc.* v. *Duguid*, 141 S. Ct. 1163, 1169 (2021). And it makes little sense. Under that construction, whether gathering information is lawful sometimes depends on the intention of a third party. If somebody else—even an attorney—at some point intends to prepare the document, that transforms the nonlawyer's receipt of information into a violation. This is not how the law generally works. "[A] violation of the [law] cannot be made out on the

basis of someone other than the violator's knowledge." Levas & Levas v. Antioch, Ill., 684 F.2d 446, 453 (7th Cir. 1982); see Letchworth v. Gay, 874 F. Supp. 107, 109 (E.D.N.C. 1995).

Court of Appeals's reading contradicts the Legislature's stated intent "not ... to limit consumers from obtaining legitimate estate planning documents ... from those authorized to practice law." RCW 19.295.005; see Thompson v. Hanson, 168 Wn.2d 738, 751, 239 P.3d 537 (2009) (the legislature is presumed not to act "contrary to the overriding purpose of the statute"). It impedes access to legitimate, lawyerprepared documents by making it illegal for "any natural person, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, firm, or association" to gather, or offer to gather, information to help a person obtain legal advice. RCW 19.295.010(5) (emphasis added). A daughter who offers to help her father fill out a probate form would be just as liable as a corporation selling trusts; there is no exception for "family members ... engaging in noncommercial discussions." Contra AGO Br. 45. The EDDA

should be construed to "avoid [this] unlikely, absurd, or strained consequence[]." *State* v. *Sullivan*, 143 Wn.2d 162, 175, 19 P.3d 1012 (2001).

Further, the court's conclusion that gathering or offering to gather information is illegal whenever an independent attorney *may* use it (App. 24), is contrary to the EDDA's requirement that the document is gathered "for the preparation of" a document "prepared or intended to be prepared." This was a crucial error. The court found EDDA violations for *every* attendee at *every* seminar, many of whom never hired lawyers or obtained documents, and *every* follow-up and check-in meeting, although documents had already been prepared, and meetings rarely resulted in CLA sending update forms to attorneys.

2. The Court of Appeals wrongly refused to consider legislative history and case law.

The EDDA's focus on "individualized advice" and preparation of documents "for a specific person" incorporates preexisting UPL case law. At a minimum, the EDDA is ambiguous about when a nonlawyer may gather information.

Thus, courts should turn to "legislative history, and relevant case law to assist ... in discerning legislative intent." *Cockle* v. *Dep't of Lab. & Indus.*, 142 Wn.2d 801, 808, 16 P.3d 583 (2001); *see also State Dep't of Transp.* v. *James River Ins. Co.*, 176 Wn.2d 390, 396-97, 292 P.3d 118 (2013); *Ysletta Del Sur Pueblo* v. *Texas*, 142 S. Ct. 1929, 1940 (2022) ("Even if fair questions remain after a look at the ordinary meaning of the statutory terms ... important contextual clues [the contemporary legal context and legislative history] resolve them.").

The EDDA's terms are drawn from case law. The Legislature "is presumed to know the existing state of the case law in those areas in which it is legislating and a statute will not be construed in derogation of the common law unless the Legislature has clearly expressed its intention to vary it." *Price* v. *Kitsap Transit*, 125 Wn.2d 456, 463, 886 P.2d 556 (1994). At the time of the EDDA, Washington case law established that "a person begins to practice law by either directly or indirectly ... giving advice," for example, through the "selection of

appropriate [estate distribution] documents." *In re Estate of Knowles*, 135 Wn. App. 351, 365-66, 143 P.3d 864 (2006).

Under the common law, in other words, nonlawyers gathering information for the preparation of estate distribution documents are not practicing law unless they prepare individualized advice about, or an estate distribution document, themselves. Compare In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against Shepard, 169 Wn.2d 697, 710, 239 P.3d 1066 (2010) ("[Nonlawyer] practiced law by *choosing* living trust documents for customers.") (emphasis added)), and In re Marks, 91 Wn. App. 325, 335, 957 P.2d 235 (1998) ("[Nonlawyer's] activities in selecting a will kit, discussing the distribution of assets and whether it was fair; obtaining the inventory of investments, typing the will, and arranging for the signing and witnessing of the will constituted the unauthorized practice of law."), with Knowles, 135 Wn. App. at 365-66 (no UPL where there was "no evidence that [nonlawyer] selected the will form or advised [his father] about his dispositions").

The EDDA draws the same distinction. It makes it a CPA violation for a nonlawyer to collect information to give "individualized advice about an estate distribution document." RCW 19.295.010(4) (emphasis added). It thus targets only those who do "work of a legal nature" by "giv[ing] legal advice to those for whom [they] draw[] instruments." Paul v. Stanley, 168 Wash. 371, 376-77, 12 P.2d 401 (1932) (emphasis added), overruled on other grounds by Wash. State Bar Ass'n v. Wash. Ass'n of Realtors, 41 Wn.2d 697, 251 P.2d 619 (1952).

The legislative history confirms the Legislature intended to codify existing law regarding UPL. The "[1]egislative history serves an important role in divining legislative intent." *State* v. *Bigsby*, 189 Wn.2d 210, 216, 399 P.3d 540 (2017). The EDDA's Final Bill Report makes clear that the Legislature was focused on existing UPL caselaw: "The practice of law as construed by Washington courts includes not only legal representation of a client in court, but also legal advice and counsel as well as the preparation of legal instruments and contracts by which legal

rights are secured." H.R. B. Rep., Reg. Sess. H.B. 1114 (Wash. 2007). It was already unlawful for nonlawyers to market or sell living trusts; the AGO recognized that "you c[ould] use [current] law to get to that conclusion." House Judiciary Committee Tr. at 19 (Statement of Cheryl Kringle, AGO Spokesperson) (2007).

The problem was that the AGO was struggling to combat "trust mill" schemes. Connecting UPL to the CPA was "a multistepped approach" which was "based on case law" alone, creating "hurdle[s]" such as the need to prove that the specific instance of UPL "was deceptive or unfair." *Id.* at 19, 27, 34. So the Legislature enacted the EDDA to "make[] clear what a violation of the law is and create[] a *per se* violation of the [CPA]." H.R. B. Rep., Reg. Sess. H.B. 1114 (Wash. 2007).

The sole new law "create[d]" by the EDDA—a *per se* violation—was critical because, while courts had found UPL to sometimes violate the CPA, UPL was not a *per se* CPA violation.

Compare Bowers v. Transamerica Title Ins. Co., 100 Wn.2d 581, 583, 675 P.2d 193 (1983), with Hangman Ridge Training

Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Ins. Co., 33 Wn. App. 129, 136, 652 P.2d 962 (1982).

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