FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/21/2022 4:35 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101389-2 Court of Appeals No. 82529-1-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent/Plaintiff,

v.

CLA USA INC. and CLA ESTATE SERVICES, INC,

Petitioner/Defendants.

RESPONDENT STATE OF WASHINGTON'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

AUDREY L. UDASHEN, WSBA #42868 Assistant Attorney General CYNTHIA L. ALEXANDER, WSBA #46019 Deputy Solicitor General 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 206-254-0561 Attorneys for Respondent

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

The Court of Appeals properly determined that the trial court's unchallenged findings establish that CLA gathered information that it represented was for use in the preparation of estate distribution documents throughout its relationship with its clients. Pet. App. at 23. Because the CLA agents who offered to gather, or gathered, this information were nonlawyers, their conduct violated the EDDA under the plain language of the statute. *Id*.

CLA's various attempts to contort the EDDA to argue that it doesn't apply to CLA are inconsistent with the Legislature's express intent, which makes clear that the EDDA is meant to

prohibit precisely the type of scheme that CLA conducted in Washington. The Legislature enacted the EDDA "to prohibit the unscrupulous practice of marketing legal documents as a means of targeting senior citizens for financial exploitation." RCW 19.295.005. The Legislature explained that it "finds the practice of using 'living trusts' as a marketing tool by persons who are not authorized to practice law ... to be a deceptive means of obtaining personal asset information and of developing and generating leads for sales to senior citizens." *Id.* CLA did exactly this, using RLTs as a marketing tool at its estate-planning seminars, alarming seniors about the consequences of not having an RLT, convincing them to allow CLA agents into their homes under the guise of funding the trust and keeping it up to date, and deceptively using insurance agents to obtain their personal asset information and sell them annuities. See Pet. App. at 83 (¶ 39).

CLA seeks to add language to the EDDA, contending that the statute prohibits gathering information for the preparation of an estate distribution document only where a nonlawyer gathers

information "relevant to a legal document which the nonlawyer prepares or intends to prepare." Pet. at 14 (emphasis in original). Under this self-serving revision of the statute, a nonlawyer could gather a consumer's information for the preparation of estate distribution documents, and unscrupulously use the gathered asset information to financially exploit the consumer (precisely as CLA did here) but escape liability simply by referring the consumer to an attorney for the actual preparation of estate documents. This tortured construction not only requires the inappropriate insertion of language not found in the statute, but would also frustrate the Legislature's express intention. RCW 19.295.005. See, e.g., Rest. Dev., Inc. v. Cananwill, Inc., 150 Wn.2d 674, 682, 80 P.3d 598 (2003) (stating that courts "must not add words where the legislature has chosen not to include them.").

CLA's argument that the Court of Appeal's interpretation makes the EDDA's applicability depend on the intention of a third party (presumably an attorney) to use the documents is particularly disingenuous given that, as the Court of Appeals observed, "unchallenged findings and the record as a whole clearly establish that CLA represented, and its clients understood, that it was gathering information for the preparation of estate distribution documents." Pet. App. at 23. The EDDA says nothing about third-party intentions and CLA's liability does not depend on what the attorneys to whom it sent the information intended to do with the information.

Nor does the EDDA prohibit family members from gathering information for the preparation of a loved one's estate documents. That the EDDA prohibits only the commercial gathering of, or offering to gather, information for the preparation of estate distribution documents is evident from the language of the statute, which prohibits the *marketing* of estate distribution documents. RCW 19.295.020(1). Violations of the EDDA are *per se* violations of the CPA, which demonstrates that such violations necessarily occur in "trade or commerce." RCW 19.86.020. And the legislative intent section of the EDDA

makes clear that its purpose is to stop the use of living trusts *as* a marketing tool to deceptively obtain personal asset information and generate leads for sales to senior citizens, not to prevent family members from engaging in non-commercial estate-planning discussions. See RCW 19.295.005.

Because the EDDA's plain language is unambiguous, CLA's argument that the Court of Appeals should have considered legislative history and even unrelated testimony after EDDA's enactment, Pet. at 16-22, must fail. Courts consider legislative history only when interpreting ambiguous statutes. *Lockner v. Pierce County*, 190 Wn.2d 526, 531, 415 P.3d 246 (2018) ("Our starting point is the statute's plain language and ordinary meaning. If the statute's plain language is unambiguous, our review is at an end."). CLA's arguments that the EDDA is ambiguous are grounded in CLA's rewriting of the statute rather than in any ambiguity in the language of the actual statute.

The need to review legislative history is further diminished in this case, where the EDDA's text includes a clear statement of legislative intent. G-P Gypsum Corp. v. Dep't of *Revenue*, 169 Wn.2d 304, 310, 237 P.3d 256 (2010) (stating that courts consider an enacted statement of legislative purpose, such as a preamble, in their plain language analysis). The EDDA's intent section establishes that the Legislature enacted the EDDA to prevent consumer deception and financial exploitation, not to regulate the unauthorized practice of law. Rather than focusing on harms associated with the unauthorized practice of law, such as the consequences of the selection of an improper estate distribution document, the EDDA's intent section confirms that the statute was intended to protect seniors from financial exploitation by those who would gather their asset information to target them for the sale of financial products under the pretense of assisting with their estate planning. That the EDDA is not an unauthorized practice of law statute is also evident by its express exclusion of certain categories of nonlawyer professionals, such

as financial institutions and tax agents, from its prohibitions. *See* RCW 19.295.020(4)-(6).

Finally, because the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the plain language of the EDDA was unambiguous, it properly declined to address CLA's argument that the constitutional avoidance canon of statutory construction should be applied, see Pet. at 23-24. State v. Wolvelaere, 195 Wn.2d 597 n.8, 461 P.3d 1173 (2020) (noting that "the doctrine of constitutional avoidance is limited to those situations in which a statute is subject to more than one reasonable interpretation"). CLA makes a conclusory statement that the Court of Appeals' "overbroad construction" of the EDDA causes it "to sweep in substantial amounts of speech that the government has no interest in banning, in violation of the First Amendment," Pet. at 23, but makes no claim that its constitutional rights have been violated. Even if CLA had made such a claim, the Court of Appeals was not required to consider an allegation of a constitutional violation unsupported by "considered argument." State Health Ins. Pool v.

Health Care Auth., 129 Wn.2d 504, 511, 919 P.2d 62 (1996) ("Parties raising constitutional issues must present considered arguments to this court. . . . [N]aked castings into the constitutional sea are not sufficient to command judicial consideration and discussion." (internal citations and quotation marks omitted)).

The EDDA unambiguously prohibits the marketing of estate distribution documents by nonlawyers such as CLA's agents. That CLA would prefer a differently worded statute does not mean that the Court of Appeals erred in interpreting the plain language of the existing statute, or that CLA's interpretation warrants review by this Court.

B. Where the EDDA is Unambiguous and the State Never Advised CLA That Its Conduct Was Lawful, CLA Had Fair Notice of the EDDA's Prohibitions

CLA espouses several theories that attempt to shift blame for its EDDA violations to the State. CLA does not allege, of course, that the State directed it to provide misleading information to seniors at its estate-planning seminars. Nor does CLA allege that the State directed it to send its representatives to clients' homes, under the guise of assisting with preparation of estate planning documents, to gather financial information for the purpose of selling insurance products. CLA does not dispute that it voluntarily chose to engage in this misconduct. Instead, CLA's argument can be generally summed up as an argument that civil penalties are inappropriate because the State did not expressly advise CLA that its conduct was illegal. See Pet. at 24-27. This meritless argument does not warrant review.

Even setting aside the obvious impropriety of the State offering legal advice to its enforcement targets, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that CLA's characterization of the relevant facts and law was misleading. Pet. App. at 30-32. The Court of Appeals determined that the facts "do not include any

 $^{^3}$ CLA does not acknowledge the trial court's finding that CLA was put on notice that its practices could violate Washington law by an attorney who declined to receive referrals from CLA after concluding its business model could violate Washington law. *Id.* at 50 (\P 25).

explicit or tacit indication from the [Attorney General's Office] that it had concluded CLA's business model was lawful," and the case law CLA cites refers to situations in which statutory text and relevant court and agency guidance allowed for more than one reasonable interpretation. *See Safeco Ins. Co. of Am. v. Burr*, 551 U.S. 47, 70 n.20, 127 S. Ct. 2201, 167 L. Ed. 2d 1045 (2007) (finding defendants' reading of Fair Credit Reporting Act reasonable); *Christopher v. SmithKline Beecham Corp.*, 567 U.S. 142, 155-156, 132 S. Ct. 2156 (2012) (recognizing that deference to an agency's interpretation of its regulations is only appropriate when the agency's interpretation is reasonable).

Here, in contrast, "neither statutory guidance, court guidance, nor agency guidance indicate that CLA's interpretation of the law was reasonable." Pet. App. at 31. Moreover, the CPA and EDDA are not enforced by a regulatory agency; the Attorney General is not a regulator with rulemaking authority.

Because the EDDA is unambiguous and the State never tacitly or expressly indicated to CLA that its conduct was lawful, the Court of Appeals properly rejected CLA's argument that it had no fair notice of the EDDA's prohibitions as inconsistent with the law and the facts. As this issue involves neither an issue of substantial public interest nor a significant question of constitutional law, it does not warrant review.

C. The Remedies Awarded Are Well-Grounded in the CPA and Case Law

The restitution and civil penalties awarded by the trial court are well-grounded in relevant statutory and case law, and properly awarded in this case. CLA's argument that these remedies were excessive and duplicative misperceives the CPA.

1. Disgorgement is the proper measure of restitution in this CPA enforcement action

The CPA provides courts with broad powers to fashion appropriate equitable remedies, including restitution "to restore to any person in interest any moneys or property, real or personal, which may have been acquired by means of any act herein

prohibited or declared to be unlawful." RCW 19.86.080(2). CLA's argument that total disgorgement is inappropriate because consumers will receive a "windfall" ignores the plain language of the statute as well as the harm its conduct caused to consumers.

As the Court of Appeals properly observed, in contrast to RCW 19.86.090's provision that a private plaintiff may seek only "actual damages sustained," RCW 19.86.080(2) permits the court to restore any moneys the defendant acquired by a CPA violation when the Attorney General brings a CPA enforcement action. CLA ignores this language and instead cites only federal cases interpreting different statutes. See Pet. at 28-29. One of undermines CLA's these cases contention. In FTC v. Figgie International, Inc., 994 F.2d 595, 606 (9th Cir. 1993), the Ninth Circuit held that when defendants' misrepresentations taint consumers' purchasing decisions, consumers are entitled to full restitution, even if the product sold had some value.

Under the CPA, "[r]estitution measures the remedy by the defendant's gain and seeks to force disgorgement of that gain." *State v. LG Elecs., Inc.*, 185 Wn. App. 123, 144 n.33, 340 P.3d 915 (2014) (quoting 1 Dan B. Dobbs, *Dobbs Law of Remedies* § 4.1(1), at 555 (2d ed. 1993)). The Court of Appeals properly applied established Washington law in affirming the trial courts' restitution award.

2. The civil penalty award is proper.

Finally, CLA's contention that the trial court's civil penalty award duplicated its restitution award and over-counted violations of the CPA and the EDDA misreads the CPA, which expressly authorizes courts to award both restitution and civil penalties in CPA enforcement cases. *See* RCW 19.86.080(2); RCW 19.86.140. Nowhere does the CPA or case law interpreting it suggest that restitution awards should be added to penalty awards to determine if the resulting sum exceeds the statutory maximum civil penalty, and CLA unsurprisingly cites no authority for this proposition.

Nor does the award of three penalties per attendee at CLA's estate-planning seminars represent an "overcount" of violations. The CPA does not limit the possible number of violations to the number of aggrieved consumers; to the contrary, each unfair or deceptive act is a separate violation, as this Court has long recognized, *State v. Ralph Williams' N. W. Chrysler Plymouth, Inc.*, 87 Wn.2d 298, 317, 553 P.2d 423 (1976) ("We decline to follow the one-violation-per-consumer rule."), and as CLA concedes, Pet. at 29 (citing *State v. LA Investors*, 2 Wn. App. 2d 524, 545-46, 410 P.3d 1183 (2018)).

The trial court properly awarded a civil penalty for each of CLA's independent violations at its estate-planning seminars including (1) CLA's misrepresentations about trusts and probate (\$667 penalty per attendee); (2) CLA's deceptive marketing of the Lifetime Estate Plan as a robust estate-planning package and failure to disclose that in-home meetings promised the Plan would be conducted by commission-motivated insurance agents (\$667 penalty per attendee); and (3) CLA's offering to gather,

and gathering of information for the preparation of estate distribution documents in violation of the EDDA (\$666 penalty per attendee). These were distinct acts by CLA at its estate-planning seminars, and each separately violated the CPA.⁴

CLA's citation of *State Farm Mutual Auto Insurance Co.*v. Campbell, 538 U.S. 408, 426, 123 S. Ct. 1513, 155 L. Ed. 2d

585 (2003), Pet. at 27, hints at, but does not explain or develop,
a constitutional due process argument that was not preserved
below regarding the amount of restitution and penalties awarded
by the trial court. *See* Pet. at 27. But CLA did not raise this
argument in the Court of Appeals, and even if it had been
preserved, it does not warrant review because CLA has not
supported it by considered argument here. *State Health Ins. Pool*,
129 Wn.2d at 511.

⁴ Even if these were not separate CPA violations, the total penalty per attendee for violations at the seminars does not exceed the then-existing statutory maximum penalty per CPA violation of \$2,000.

The penalties awarded were neither unreasonable nor disproportionate. Rather, they were based on detailed unchallenged factual findings that CLA engaged in repeated and sustained CPA and EDDA violations, did not act in good faith, and caused grave public injury. Pet. App. at 87-95 (¶¶ 54-82). The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's penalty awards.

D. The State Requests Attorneys' Fees on Appeal Pursuant to RAP 18.1 and RCW 19.86.080(1)

Under the CPA, the prevailing party is entitled to an award of attorneys' fees and costs. RCW 19.86.080(1). The Court of Appeals awarded fees and costs to the State when it prevailed on appeal. Pet. App. at 99-100 (¶¶ 87-89). If CLA's petition for review is denied, the State requests attorneys' fees and costs in accordance with RAP 18.1(a), (b) and (j), the sum of which will be made certain in an affidavit by the State's counsel upon order by the Court in accordance with RAP 18.1(d).

V. CONCLUSION

CLA has not established that any of the considerations warranting review by this Court are applicable, and this Court should deny the petition for review.

This document contains 4,997 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.